# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 83,014

ARROW AIR, INC.,	)
Petitioner,	)
vs.	)
MICHAEL WALSH,	)
Respondent.	)
	)

On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS (WITH APPENDIX)

THORNTON, DAVID, MURRAY, DAVIS, THORNTON & SREENAN, P.A. BY: KATHLEEN M. O'CONNOR

Florida Bar No. 333761 Attorneys for ARROW AIR, INC. 2950 Southwest 27th Avenue Suite 100, Grove Professional Bldg. Miami, Florida 33133-3704 Telephone: (305) 446-2646

Facsimile: (305) 441-2374

#

## INTRODUCTION

This brief is filed by Petitioner, Arrow Air, Inc. The symbol "R" will be used to designate the record on appeal, and the abbreviation "App." will be used to designate the attached appendix.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff below, Michael Walsh ("Walsh"), sued his former employer, Arrow Air Inc. ("Arrow"), in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County. (R. 2-5) Walsh alleged that on May 15, 1989, he was wrongfully terminated from his employment. The action was brought under New York Labor Law § 740 (McKinney 1989). (R. 3, 4) Walsh sought reinstatement; reinstatement of full fringe benefits and seniority rights; compensation for lost wages, benefits and other remuneration; and costs of suit and attorney's fees. (R. 4-5)

Arrow filed motions to dismiss and strike the complaint for failure to state a cause of action or allege grounds sufficient to invoke the jurisdiction of Florida's courts. (R. 6-8) Arrow also filed a Motion for Change of Venue to Dade County, based on the fact that it did no business in Broward County. (R. 9-14) The case was transferred to Dade County. (R. 15)

Arrow's Motion to Dismiss the Complaint was granted after the trial judge determined that the action was governed by Florida law and that Florida law did not recognize a cause of action for

retaliatory discharge. (R. 27) Walsh filed a Motion for Rehearing/Reconsideration with a supporting Memorandum of Law. (R. 18-23) The motion was based on plaintiff's contention that the action was governed by the law of New York. Walsh specifically stated:

Plaintiff is not arguing or even requesting this Court to establish a Florida cause of action for wrongful discharge. He acknowledges that the Florida Supreme Court has rejected this possibility. However, he does argue that choice of law principles allow the application of a foreign state's law where the "significant relationships test" so dictates.

(R. 22-23)

The Motion for Rehearing was denied. (R. 28) Plaintiff then appealed and the District Court of Appeal, Third District, affirmed. In an opinion filed on May 21, 1991, the court unanimously held that plaintiff's cause of action was governed by Florida law and that Florida does not recognize a cause of action for wrongful discharge. (App. 1-5) On June 5, 1991, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Rehearing on the sole ground that the action was governed by New York law. (App. 6-8)

On June 7, 1991, Sections 448.101, et seq., Florida Statutes, known as the private sector "Whistle Blower's Act" became effective. In any action for retaliatory personnel action brought

Section 448.102 provides that:

An employer may not take any retaliatory personnel action against an employee because the employee has:

<sup>(1)</sup> Disclosed, or threatened to disclose to any appropriate governmental agency, under oath, in

pursuant to the act a court may order relief, including an injunction restraining continued violation of the act; reinstatement of the employee; reinstatement of full fringe benefits and seniority rights; compensation for lost wages, benefits and other remuneration and any other compensatory damages allowable at law. Section 448.103, Florida Statutes (1991). The act further provides for an award of reasonable attorney's fees, court costs and expenses to the prevailing party. Section 448.104, Florida Statutes (1991).

On November 23, 1992, nearly a year and a half after Walsh moved for rehearing, the Third District ordered Arrow to file a supplemental brief addressing, among other things, whether Section 448.102, Florida Statutes (1991), could be applied to the case at bar. (App. 9-10) The order also provided that Walsh could file

writing, an activity, policy, or practice of the employer that is in violation of a law, rule, or regulation. However, this subsection does not apply unless the employee has, in writing, brought the activity, policy, or practice to the attention of a supervisor or the employer and has afforded the employer a reasonable opportunity to correct the activity, policy, or practice.

<sup>(2)</sup> Provided information to, or testified before, any appropriate governmental agency, person, or entity conducting an investigation, hearing, or inquiry into an alleged violation of a law, rule, or regulation by the employer.

<sup>(3)</sup> Objected to, or refused to participate in, any activity, policy, or practice of the employer which is in violation of a law, rule, or regulation.

Section 448.102, Florida Statutes (1991).

a reply brief within 15 days after the supplemental brief was filed. Arrow's supplemental brief, arguing that the private sector Whistle Blower's Act could not be retroactively applied, was filed on January 25, 1993, and Walsh filed no reply.

On May 11, 1993, the District Court of Appeal, Third District, in a 2-1 decision, vacated its opinion filed on May 21, 1991, and filed a new opinion, reversing the dismissal of Walsh's complaint.

(R. 29-44; App. 11-18) The majority held that the action for retaliatory termination was governed by Florida law; that the private sector Whistle Blower's Act should be applied retroactively to a termination that occurred more than two years prior to its enactment; and that Walsh should be permitted to amend his complaint to state a cause of action under the private sector Whistle Blower's Act. (R. 30-44; App. 11-18)

Arrow's motions for rehearing, rehearing en banc, and certification were denied. (R. 45-48; App. 17-18) Arrow then sought review in this Court, and on May 13, 1994, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Plaintiff below, Michael Walsh, a Florida resident, was employed by Arrow as a flight engineer. (R. 2) Arrow, a Florida corporation, has its principal place of business in Dade County, Florida. (R. 2, 10)

According to the allegations of Walsh's complaint, on April 25, 1989, while Walsh was a flight engineer on Arrow's flight 506 out

of New York, the flight crew discovered a hydraulic leak in the aircraft's number 2 engine. The flight crew reported the leak to Arrow's maintenance crew.<sup>2</sup> (R. 2-3)The maintenance crew subsequently reported in the flight log book that the hydraulic system checked out and verbally assured Walsh that certain repairs had been effected. (R. 3) Walsh inspected the system and discovered that a hydraulic leak still existed. Flight 506 was delayed for five hours at Walsh's insistence while maintenance effected repairs. (R. 3) The maintenance director protested and complained about the write-ups in the log book by Walsh. (R. 3) Three weeks later, on May 15, 1989, Walsh was terminated from his employment with Arrow. (R. 3)

Although the opinion of the District Court states that Walsh discovered and reported the leak, see Walsh v. Arrow Air, Inc., 629 So. 2d 144, 145 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), the complaint simply states that "the flight crew discovered and reported a hydraulic leak" to the maintenance crew. (R. 2-3)

There is no support in the record for the statement in the opinion of the District Court that "Arrow Air, by and through its employees, threatened Walsh for his actions in reporting the incident and grounding the flight." Walsh v. Arrow Air, Inc., 629 So. 2d at 146.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

I.

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT MAJORITY CORRECTLY HELD THAT FLORIDA'S PRIVATE SECTOR WHISTLE BLOWER'S ACT COULD BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY WHERE THE LEGISLATURE DID NOT PROVIDE FOR RETROACTIVE APPLICATION.

II.

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT MAJORITY CORRECTLY HELD THAT A STATUTE WHICH CREATED NEW SUBSTANTIVE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS COULD BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY.

III.

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT MAJORITY CORRECTLY HELD THAT A PARTY'S CONSTITUTIONAL DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED BY RETROACTIVE APPLICATION OF A STATUTE WHICH CREATED NEW SUBSTANTIVE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS.

IV.

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT MAJORITY CORRECTLY HELD ON REHEARING THAT PLAINTIFF BELOW SHOULD BE PERMITTED TO AMEND HIS COMPLAINT TO STATE A CAUSE OF ACTION UNDER THE FLORIDA WHISTLE BLOWER'S ACT, WHERE THE SOLE POINT RAISED BY PLAINTIFF ON REHEARING WAS THAT THE COURT SHOULD HAVE APPLIED NEW YORK LAW, AND PLAINTIFF NEVER SOUGHT LEAVE TO AMEND TO STATE A CAUSE OF ACTION UNDER FLORIDA LAW.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

The District Court majority erred in holding that Florida's private sector Whistle Blower's Act could be applied retroactively where the legislature did not provide for retroactive application. In the case at bar, the Act did not take effect until more than two years after plaintiff below, Walsh, was terminated from his employment. It is well established under Florida law that, in the absence of a clear legislative intent to the contrary, a statute is presumed to apply prospectively. The presumption applies with particular force where the statute in question creates a new liability in connection with a past transaction.

In enacting the private sector Whistle Blower's Act, the legislature simply specified an effective date. Where the legislature does no more than specify an effective date, that rebuts any argument that retroactive application of the law was intended.

II.

The District Court majority erred in holding that a statute which created new substantive rights and obligations could be applied retroactively. Prior to the enactment of the private sector Whistle Blower's Act it was well established under Florida law that an employer could terminate an at-will employee at any time, for any cause or no cause at all, without incurring

liability. The Act is, therefore, a drastic departure from the common law.

It is well established under Florida law that statutes creating new substantive rights and liabilities may not be applied retroactively. Although the Act may be "remedial" in purpose, the rule that remedial statutes are applied retroactively does not apply where the remedial act creates new substantive rights and liabilities.

#### III.

The District Court majority erred in holding that a party's constitutional due process rights were not violated by retroactive application of a statute which creates new substantive rights and obligations. It is well established under Florida law that retroactive application of a statute is invalid if a new obligation or duty is created or imposed in connection with past transactions. Retroactive application of the Whistle Blower's Act to an employee termination that occurred two years prior to the statute's enactment is clearly unconstitutional.

#### IV.

The District Court majority erred in holding, on rehearing, that plaintiff below should be permitted to amend his complaint to state a cause of action under Florida's Whistle Blower's Act, where the sole point raised by plaintiff on rehearing was that the court should have applied New York law, and plaintiff never sought leave

to amend to state a cause of action under Florida law. A plaintiff is bound by the allegations of his complaint, and it is well established that a plaintiff who fails to seek leave to amend in the trial court will not be granted leave to amend on appeal. In the case at bar, plaintiff never sought leave to amend in the trial court or in the District Court. Furthermore, it is not the function of a District Court to raise and assert alternative theories of liability on behalf of a plaintiff that were never raised in the trial court or on appeal by the plaintiff.

#### ARGUMENT

I.

THE DISTRICT COURT MAJORITY ERRED IN HOLDING THAT FLORIDA'S PRIVATE SECTOR WHISTLE BLOWER'S ACT COULD BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY WHERE THE LEGISLATURE DID NOT PROVIDE FOR RETROACTIVE APPLICATION.

According to the allegations of plaintiff's Complaint, Walsh was terminated from his employment on May 15, 1989. Section 448.101, et. seq., Florida Statutes, the private sector "Whistle Blower's Act" did not take effect until more than two years later, on June 7, 1991. See Chapter 91-285, Section 9, Laws of Florida 1991.

It is well established under Florida law that, in the absence of a clear legislative intent to the contrary, a statute is presumed to apply prospectively. Alamo Rent-A-Car, Inc. v. Mancusi, 632 So. 2d 1352, 1368 (Fla. 1994); Walker & LaBerge, Inc. v. Halligan, 344 So.2d 239, 241 (Fla. 1977); Larson v. Independent Life & Accident Insurance Co., 29 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 1947) ("It is academic to say that courts indulge the presumption that all acts of the legislature operate prospectively unless there is a clear or expressed intent that they have a retroactive effect."); Heberle v. P.R.O. Liquidating Co., 186 So. 2d 280, 282 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966) ("A strict rule of statutory construction indulged by the courts is the presumption that the legislature, in the absence of a positive expression, intended statutes... to operate prospectively only..."). The presumption against retroactive application applies

with particular force where the statute in question creates a new liability in connection with a past transaction. State v. Lavazzoli, 434 So. 2d 321, 322 (Fla. 1983) (rule against retroactive application of statutes applies with "particular force" where retrospective operation of the law would impair or destroy existing rights); Larson v. Independent Life & Accident Insurance Co., supra.

In order for a statute to be applied retrospectively, there must be a clear and unequivocal expression of legislative intent for retroactive application. Walker & LaBerge, Inc. v. Halligan, supra; Larson v. Independent Life & Accident Insurance Co., supra. Where the legislature simply specifies an effective date in a statute, that rebuts any argument that retroactive application of the law was intended. State, Department of Revenue v. Zuckerman-Vernon Corp., 354 So. 2d 353, 358 (Fla. 1977).

Sections 448.101, et seq., Florida Statutes (1991) were enacted by the legislature in chapter 91-285, Laws of Florida 1991. As to an effective date, Section 8 of Chapter 91-285 simply provides that, "This act shall take effect upon becoming a law." The act was approved by the Governor and filed with the Secretary of State of June 7, 1991. In addition, Section 448.105, entitled "Existing rights" provides that:

This act does not diminish the rights, privileges or remedies of an employee or employer under any other law or rule or under any collective bargaining agreement or employment contract."

[Emphasis added.]

Because the legislature did not clearly and unequivocally provide for retroactive application, and instead simply specified an effective date, Section 448.101, et. seq., may not be applied retroactively. State, Department of Revenue v. Zuckerman-Vernon Corp., 354 So. 2d 353, 358 (Fla. 1977).

II.

THE DISTRICT COURT MAJORITY ERRED IN HOLDING THAT A STATUTE WHICH CREATED NEW SUBSTANTIVE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS COULD BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY.

The majority below erred in holding that the private sector Whistle Blower's Act, which creates an entirely new cause of action for wrongful termination, could be applied retroactively to an employee's termination that occurred more than two years prior to the statute's enactment. At the time Walsh was fired by Arrow, on May 15, 1991, Florida courts adhered to the rule that where a term of employment was for an indefinite period of time, either party could terminate the employment at any time, for any cause or no cause at all, without incurring liability. Smith v. Piezo Technology & Professional Administrators, 427 So. 2d 182, 184 (Fla. 1983); Hartley v. Ocean Reef Club, Inc., 476 So. 2d 1327, 1329 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) ("creation of a cause of action for retaliatory firing of an at-will employee would abrogate the inherent right of contract between employer and employee ... [and] overrule longstanding Florida law...").

Recognizing that the employment at will doctrine was well entrenched in the common law of Florida, Walsh sued Arrow for wrongful discharge pursuant to the New York Labor Code. The complaint was dismissed after the trial court concluded that Florida law applied and the Third District affirmed. case was pending for nearly two years on rehearing, the Florida Legislature enacted Section 448.101, et seq, Florida Statutes, the The Act is a drastic private sector Whistle Blower's Act. departure from the common law employment at will doctrine and provides, under certain circumstances, for a cause of action for retaliatory discharge and also provides for the recovery of attorneys' fees. The Third District, on its own initiative, held in a 2-1 decision that the new Florida statute could be applied retroactively to provide Walsh with a cause of action for retaliatory termination that occurred more than two years prior to the statute's effective date.

The majority below stated that:

Although the general rule is that statutes creating new rights operate prospectively, Florida Dep't of Revenue v. Zuckerman-Vernon Corp., 354 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 1977), the rule is not absolute. 2 Sutherland, Statutory Construction, § 40.01 (4th ed. 1986); 49 Fla. Jur. 2d, Statutes, § 107 (1984).

Walsh v. Arrow Air, Inc., 629 So. 2d 144, 148 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993). The majority misstated Florida law in regard to statutes which affect substantive rights and liabilities. The law in Florida is: Although the general rule is that statutes operate prospectively, the rule is not absolute. In regard, however, to statutes creating

new substantive rights and liabilities the rule against retroactive application is rigidly enforced. L. Ross, Inc. v. R. W. Roberts Construction Co., Inc., 481 So. 2d 484, 485 (Fla. 1986) (statute which increases substantive obligations could not be applied to a cause of action in existence on date of enactment); Young V. Altenhaus, 472 So. 2d 1152, 1154 (Fla. 1985) (statute which creates a "new obligation or duty" is substantive in nature and can be applied only prospectively); State v. Lavazzoli, 434 So. 2d 321, 323 (Fla. 1983) (statutes which affect existing rights are presumed to apply prospectively); Larson v. Independent Life & Accident Insurance Co., 29 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 1947) (statutes which create new obligations and impose new penalties are "rigidly construed" as being prospective); Recon Paving Inc. v. Cook, 439 So. 2d 1019, 1021 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (substantive statutes are prospective only); Ratner v. Hensley, 303 So. 2d 41, 45 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974) ("defendant's vested rights protect him from being subjected to the retroactive application of statutes creating new causes of action").

The majority below attempted to avoid application of the well established rule in the cited decisions by holding that the private sector Whistle Blower's Act is "remedial" and must, therefore, be given retroactive application. For that proposition, the majority relied upon this Court's decision in Martin County v. Edenfield, 609 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1992), holding that Section 112.3187, Florida Statutes (1989), the public sector Whistle Blower's Act, was a

"remedial statute designed to encourage the elimination of public corruption ...." 609 So. 2d at 29.

In Edenfield this Court held that Section 112.3187 was remedial solely in the context of determining whether the statute, which was clearly in derogation of common law, should be broadly or narrowly In Edenfield, however, this Court also held that substantive amendments to the Whistle Blower's Act which took effect during the pendency of the case could not be applied retroactively. 609 So. 2d 27, 29, n.2. In Edenfield, the issue before this Court was whether an employee who was in pari delicto with the wrongdoer whose malfeasance he revealed was precluded from seeking relief under the public sector Whistle Blower's Act of 1986. At the time the employee was subjected to adverse actions by his employer, the statute provided that the employee's participation in the corruption alleged could be raised as a defense by the employer. Subsequently, in 1992, the statute was amended to provide that the statute's protection was not available to an individual who intentionally participated in wrongdoing.

Although this Court held that the statute was "remedial" and should therefore be broadly construed, this Court also held that the subsequent substantive amendment could not be applied retroactively, stating, "[T]he 1992 amendments do not apply to the present cause of action [which accrued prior to the amendment's effective date]." 609 So. 2d at 29, n.2. If a substantive amendment to a portion of the public sector Whistle Blower's Act

cannot be applied retroactively, then certainly the entire private sector Whistle Blower's Act cannot be applied retroactively.

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