10.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83,014

SID I MAITE

H.

F

By

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chilef Deputy Clark

ARROW AIR, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

MICHAEL WALSH,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Kelly B. Gelb, Esq. Krupnick, Campbell, Malone Roselli, Buser & Slama 700 Southeast Third Avenue Suite 100 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33316 Telephone: (305) 944-4472 and Barbara Green, Esq. Fla. Bar. No. 264628 Co-Counsel for Appellants 2964 Aviation Avenue, 3rd Floor Coconut Grove, FL 33133 Telephone: (305) 448-8337

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Michael Walsh was fired for doing the only thing he lawfully could have done under Florida law and federal regulations. He grounded an unsafe aircraft until the dangerous leak was corrected. He may have saved hundreds of lives. The Third District correctly applied the Whistle-blower Act to provide him a remedy and protect employees who follow the law and protect the public safety.

The Whistle-blower Act is remedial. Therefore, there is no presumption against retrospective application. In fact, retrospective application is required to serve the intended purpose of the statute.

The statute does not create an entirely new cause of action. Florida has recognized some form of wrongful discharge cause of action since 1983, when it recognized a cause of action for firing an employee in violation of a specific statute. The cause of action has already been expanded to include tort damages for emotional distress.

Retroactive application of the statute does not violate due process. Determination of whether retroactive application of a statute violates dues process depends on a weighing of [1] the strength of the public interest served by the statute, [2] the extent to which the right affected is abrogated, and [3] the nature of the right affected. All of these factors weight against Arrow here and in favor of Walsh.

Arrow's obligations with respect to passenger safety were well established, by statute, regulation an common law, before it fired Walsh. Arrow had no vested right to violate these established laws. Arrow was already subject to tort liability for violation of them. Its rights were not abrogated to any great extent by imposition of liability under the Whistle-blower Act.

Arrow's firing of Walsh was in furtherance of its violation of these established rules. All the Third District did was expand the cause of action for wrongful discharge to a new set of facts.

This is how the common law usually develops. There is really no difference to the defendant whether it is done by the legislature or by the courts. If the legislature cannot constitutionally do it, this Court should.

Finally, the law of New York should have been applied because New York had the most significant interest in providing Walsh a remedy. New York was the place where Arrow's mechanics failed to properly repair the airplane, where they incorrectly recorded the repairs, and where Walsh grounded the flight. New York would have been most affected if the aircraft had crashed.

The purpose of whistle-blower laws is not just to protect the employee, but to prevent the kind of underlying wrong that the employee was trying to prevent. Consequently, the place where the wrongful activities and the whistle-blowing occurred has the most significant interest in the case. The trial court should have applied New York law.

Both Florida and New York have an interest in seeing that Michael Walsh is afforded a remedy. This interest will best be served by applying New York law.

ARGUMENT²

A. THE THIRD DISTRICT CORRECTLY APPLIED THE WHISTLE-BLOWER ACT TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

I. The statute is remedial and therefore there is no presumption of prospective application.

applied first arques that §448.102 cannot be Arrow retroactively because it does not expressly state that it is to be applied retroactively. However, the "presumption " of prospective application of statutes is not a conclusive one. An intent to apply the statute retroactively may be implied when the statute, like the Whistle-blower Act, is remedial. If a statute is found to be remedial in nature, it can and should be retroactively applied in order to serve its intended purposes. <u>City of Orlando</u> v. Desjardins, 493 So.2d 1027, 1028 (Fla. 1986).

Section 448.102, the statute at issue here, gives to private sector employees the same remedy that was given to public employees in §112.3187, Florida Statutes. This Court has already found that statute to be remedial. <u>Martin County v. Edenfield</u>, 609 So.2d 27 (Fla. 1992). It is indisputable that this private

² In part A of this Argument, we address the four issues raised by Arrow Air in its brief. In parts B and C, we make additional arguments in support of the District Court's reversal of the trial court. We rely on this Court's jurisdiction, once conflict jurisdiction is granted, to consider the entire case on the merits. See, e.g., <u>Bould v. Touchette</u>, 349 So.2d 1181, 1183 (Fla. 1977).

sector whistle-blower statute, like the public sector whistleblower statute at issue in <u>Edenfield</u>, is remedial.

The presumption of prospective application is rebutted when the statute is remedial. Since this statute is remedial, there is no presumption against its retroactive application. It must be given retroactive application to serve its remedial purpose.

II. The statute may be applied to this case because it is remedial and does not create entirely new substantive rights and obligations.

Whether a statute is substantive or procedural does not always determine whether it can be retroactive. This Court has recognized a third category of statutes, those that are remedial. <u>City of Orlando v. Desjardins</u>, 493 So.2d 1027.

A statute may be both substantive and remedial. "[R]egardless of whether the statute is procedural or substantive in nature, if the statute is <u>remedial</u> it must be applied retrospectively to serve its intended purpose". <u>Cebrian v. Klein</u>, 614 So.2d 1209, 1212 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (emphasis is original); <u>accord</u>, <u>Desjardins</u>, 493 So.2d at 1028.

The Whistle-blower's Act of 1991 is most definitely remedial. It is similar in all material respects to a statute which this Court has already held to be remedial. In <u>Martin County v.</u> <u>Edenfield</u>, 609 So.2d 27 (Fla. 1992), this Court held that the Whistle-blower's Act of 1986, \$112.3187, Florida Statutes, is a remedial statute. Section 112.3187 does in the public sector what \$448.102, the Whistle-blower's Act of 1991, does in the private

sector: it prohibits employers from firing employees for specified reasons contrary to important public policies, and protects employee efforts to stop or report employer wrongdoing and violation of the law.

Arrow cannot seriously argue that this statute is not remedial.

"Remedial statutes are excepted from the general rule against retrospective application of statutes." <u>L. Ross, Inc. v. R.W.</u> <u>Roberts Constr. Co.</u>, 481 So.2d 484 (Fla. 1986).

In fact, this Court seems to have acknowledged in <u>Edenfield</u> that it may be appropriate to retroactively apply a statute like this. In <u>Edenfield</u> the Court did hold amendments to the statute retroactive, but only to a date specified by the legislature. "These amendments, however, were retroactive only to July 1, 1992". 609 So.2d at 29 n.2.

The legislature has set no such limit on the retroactivity of \$448.102. Therefore, it may be retroactively applied in this case.

Moreover, the statute does not, as Arrow insists, create an entirely new cause of action. Florida has recognized some form of wrongful discharge cause of action for at least eleven years. <u>Smith v. Piezo Technology</u>, 427 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1983). In <u>Smith</u>, this Court recognized a cause of action for wrongful discharge in violation of the worker's compensation statute. The cause of action was expanded to include tort damages for emotional distress. <u>Scott v. Otis Elevator Co.</u>, 572 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1991).

The Third District merely applied the cause of action to a new set of facts, never before considered by any Florida court.

This is how the common law usually develops. Even when this Court creates or recognizes a totally new cause of action without legislation, it applies the new common law to cases already pending. For example, in <u>West v. Caterpillar Tractor</u>, 336 So.2d 80 (Fla. 1976), this Court recognized a cause of action for strict product liability and applied it to a pending case. Similarly, in <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, 280 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1973), this Court applied the new rule of comparative negligence to pending cases in which it was raised. "The fundamental considerations of fairness are surely the same" for the common law as they are for statutory changes. Sutherland, <u>Statutory Construction</u> §41.05 at 370 (1992).

As this Court pointed out in <u>State Dept. of Transp. v.</u> <u>Knowles</u>, 402 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 1991), there is really no difference to the defendant whether it is the court or the legislature recognizing the cause of action. "The question, then, boils down to whether the legislature can do what courts so often do -- that is, make a prospective determination of law applicable to persons who are 'in the pipeline' because they are already litigating in that very subject area". 402 So.2d at 1157.

Moreover, this Court pointed out in <u>Smith v. Piezo</u>, <u>supra.</u>, that, when the legislature enacts a statute that requires an act to be done for the benefit of another, or forbids an act which may injure another, Florida law implies a cause of action for the violation of that statute. 427 So.2d at 184. Arrow's alleged

acts violate requirements of the common law, statutes and regulations for which Florida law should imply a cause of action for Walsh.

As the Third District pointed out, Arrow had an obligation to safely carry its passengers. §§860.02, 860.13, Florida Statutes.³ And, of course, these acts violated Federal Aviation Regulations. <u>Connelly</u> at 450; see also, e.g., 14 C.F.R. §§43.5, 43.9, 43.12, 125.241, 125.243, 125.247 (1989)⁴; Cf. <u>Florida Freight Terminals v.</u> <u>Cabanas</u>, 354 So.2d 1222 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978) (violation of Federal Aviation Regulations is negligence <u>per se</u>).

Firing Walsh furthered Arrow's continuing pattern of conducting its business by violating safety requirements, flying unsafe airplanes and covering up the violations. The Third District detailed evidence describing these practices in <u>Connelly</u>. It took note of <u>Connelly</u> in its decision below. Since Arrow's actions were already forbidden by law before the statute was

⁴ 14 C.F.R. §§43.5 and 43.7 prohibit approving an aircraft for return to service unless the repairs have been recorded on the appropriate forms. These regulations required that the work be recorded accurately and approved by the appropriate person, such as Mr. Walsh. Section 43.9 specifically prohibits falsifying such records. Section 125.241, 125.243 and 125.247 prohibit operation of an aircraft unless the aircraft has been properly maintained and defects have been corrected. Copies of these regulations are included in the appendix.

³ Section 860.02 makes it a first degree misdemeanor to use "gross carelessness or neglect in or in relation to the conduct, management and control of [a public] conveyance." Section 860.13(1)(b) makes it a first degree misdemeanor to "operate an aircraft in the air or on the ground or water in a careless or reckless manner so as to endanger the life or property of another." Copies of these statutes are in the appendix.

enacted, it is no great change in the law to hold Arrow accountable to Michael Walsh in this case.

III. Retroactive application does not violate due process in this case.

Because, as we have explained, the statute is remedial and does not impose any new duties or obligations on Arrow, the Third District's decision is consistent with the due process clause of the Florida Constitution, Article I §9.

a. Arrow's Pre-existing Duties

Arrow already had the duty to safely carry passengers; to safely maintain its airplanes; to keep records correctly reflecting that maintenance; and to obey FAA regulations.

The penalties for Arrow's breach of those duties ranged from civil tort liability to loss of its FAA license. Additionally, Walsh contended below that Arrow Air threatened him when he refused to overlook the leak, and that it "discouraged its employees from reporting leaks, such as the one in this case, by verbal threats...". ⁵ A pattern of such threats might constitute violation of §836.05, Florida Statutes, which could subject Arrow to liability for treble damages and attorneys fees under the Civil Rico Act. See §§772.102(1)(a)(22); 772.103; 772.104, Florida Statutes. See also Gough, <u>Wrongful Discharge: Can RICO Come to</u> the Rescue, 61 Fla.B.J. 91 (June 1987). The Whistle-blower's Act

⁵ While threats are not explicitly alleged in the complaint, Walsh elaborated on them in his motion for rehearing before the Third District. Arrow Air has brought that fact to this court by including the motion in the appendix to its brief at App.7.

of 1991 did not change any of that. Therefore, imposition of civil tort liability under the Whistle-blower's Act of 1991 does not impose a new duty or obligation upon Arrow.

Arrow cannot contend that it had a vested right to violate these laws and regulations without legal consequence. It cannot seriously contend that it relied to its detriment on some supposed right to evade maintenance, record-keeping or safety requirements. It violates no concept of fundamental fairness to hold Arrow accountable in this action for activities it knew were prohibited, or to impose liabilities that were already provided by law.

b. Due Process Analysis

The due process analysis for retroactive application of a statute is not nearly so cut and dried as Arrow contends. Due process is fundamentally a question of what is fair. This Court, like the courts of many other states, has attempted to explain its due process decisions by classifying certain rights as "procedural", "substantive", "remedial", or "vested". See Sutherland, Statutory Construction, \$41.05. But these classifications have not always been helpful. True, this Court has been fairly consistent in holding that "vested" or "accrued" rights may not be retroactively abrogated. See, e.g., Wiley v. Roof, 19 Fla.L.Wkly. S334 (Fla. 1994) (vested property right in bar of statute of limitations). But the determination of what rights are vested or accrued has never been such a simple one. Rights do not come equipped with neon signs that announce that they are "vested".

As this Court pointed out in <u>City of Orlando v. Desjardins</u>, 493 So.2d 1027 (Fla. 1986), "While the procedural/substantive analysis often sheds light on the propriety of retroactively applying a statute... the dichotomy does not in every case answer the question." 493 So.2d at 1028 (citations omitted).

For example, the Court has often stated that "procedural" rights may be abrogated retroactively, but that "substantive" rights may not. See, e.g., Young v. Altenhaus, 472 So.2d 1152 (Fla. 1985). But in <u>Wiley v. Roof</u>, 19 Fla.L.Wkly. S334 (Fla. 1994), this Court held that the right to the bar of an expired statute of limitations was an "accrued" right and could not be abrogated retroactively, even though it appears to be procedural, rather than substantive. Compare Foley v. Morris, 339 So.2d 215 (Fla. 1976) (statute of limitations may be retroactively shortened). And in <u>Village of El Portal v. City of Miami Shores</u>, 362 So.2d 275 (Fla. 1978), this Court held that the Uniform Contribution among Tortfeasors Act could be applied retroactively, even though the right to contribution appears to be substantive. See also Crane v. Dept. of State, 547 So.2d 266, 267 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989 (statute requiring revocation of the concealed weapon license of convicted felons could be applied retroactively because license to carry a concealed weapon is not a vested right).

In sum, what really has been going on in these cases has never been as simple as Arrow contends. Rather, as the Court frankly acknowledged in <u>State Dept. of Transportation v. Knowles</u>, 402 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 1981):

Despite formulations hinging on categories such as "vested rights" or "remedies", it has been suggested that the weighing process by which courts in fact decide whether to sustain the retroactive application of a statute involves three considerations: [1] the strength of the public interest served by the statute, [2] the extent to which the right affected is abrogated, and [3] the nature of the right affected. That analysis is helpful here.

402 So.2d at 1158.

The Third District applied the <u>Knowles</u> analysis below. A careful weighing of the factors enunciated in <u>Knowles</u> shows that it is not unconstitutionally unfair to Arrow to apply the whistleblower statute in this case.

[1] the strength of the public interest served by the statute

The public interest served by the statute is a strong one. The statute was enacted not only to give a remedy to fired employees, but to protect the public from the acts of their employers that the employees were fired for trying to prevent. See <u>Edenfield</u>, 609 So.2d at 296. Protecting the whistle-blower is a necessary mechanism to protect the public.

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